I. IDENTITY OF PEITIONER

The Petitioners are Angel Garcia Titla and his wife Leticia

Sarmiento Flores. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Angel Garcia Titla, et., al v. SFC Homes LLC, No. 47462- 0- 11

unpublished opinion dated April 26, 2016, attached at Appendix A). 

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Under Washington statutory and case law, when is an entity

deemed a general contractor for purposes of liability under Stute v. PBMC, 

114 Wn.2d 454, 788 P. 2d 545 ( 1990) where an employee of a

subcontractor is injured on a construction project? This Court should

provide guidance as to the proper legal standard or test for determining

when an entity is acting as a general contractor at a construction project

and therefore has the duty of safety on the project. No true rule or test

exists to determine what evidence must be brought forth to prove that an

entity has the Stute duty of care. The Division II Court of Appeals decision

is in conflict with the Supreme Court case of Stute v. PBMC and with

several decisions of Division I. Review of the Court of Appeals' decision

should be accepted as the requirements of RAP 13. 4( b )( 1) and ( 2) are

met. 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Angel Garcia Titla was working on a construction site owned and

developed by SFC Homes. CP 125. Garcia Titla was working as a framer

for the framing subcontractor, FRDS. CP 55, 58. SFC Homes hired FRDS

to frame one of several homes at a Gig Harbor site that SFC Homes owned

and developed. CP 57, 58. As Garcia Titla stood on a wooden piece of

lumber that was eventually to become the second -story floor of the house, 

the joist ( lumber) broke, causing him to fall to the ground with the lumber

tumbling down upon him. CP 61- 64. Garcia Titla suffered painful injuries

when his body hit the ground and the joist hit his head. CP 62- 63. 

Neither FRDS nor SFC Homes had provided adequate safety equipment

on the site, but instead provided a harness and lanyard in a situation where

workers had no place to tie off. CP 77, 78, 81- 83. Garcia Titla brought a

personal injury claim under Siute v. PBMC against SFC Homes. CP 38- 

40. 

Before trial, SFC Homes brought a motion for summary judgement

claiming that it was not the general contractor of the job site ( CP 10, 17); 

it was not the owner/developer in control of the job site ( CP 10); and it

contracted directly with framing contractors who supervised themselves

and so it owed no duty to Garcia Titla, hence it breached no duty ( CP 10, 

11, 105- 107). SFC Homes claimed that an owner who is a general
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contractor, but who chooses not to retain control of his site, does not owe

the Stute duty of care as that relates to safety. CP 17- 19. SFC Homes plead

that its owner, Mr. Atsushi Iwasaki, allowed the framing contractor FRDS

to supervise itself because it was an independent contractor. CP 20. 

Counsel for SFC Homes stated " as an independent contractor, FRDS was

free to do the work in its own way." CP 20 and " SFC Homes did not

retain the right to interfere with the manner in which FRDS completed its

work, nor did SFC Homes affirmatively assume responsibility for worker

safety." CP 20. SFC Homes argued that Garcia Titla had not proven that

SFC Homes was the general contractor of the jobsite. CP 21. SFC Homes

argued that as an owner who chose not to retain control of his jobsite, SFC

Homes could not be sued under a Stute theory of liability. CP 20. SFC

Homes did not leave another general contractor in its place to assume the

safety role and satisfy the Stute duties. There were no contracts available

to review, which is commonplace in residential construction. Many

handshake" agreements exist within these trades and in the construction

business, especially in residential construction. There is no case law which

lays out the elements required to be deemed the general contractor with

the duty of safety at a construction jobsite. Garcia Titla provided evidence

that SFC Homes was a general contractor, but the trial court ruled that he

did not prove that SFC Homes was the general contractor at that site at
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that time. Garcia Titla provided county records to prove his case, as

identified below: 

According to county records, the owner of the construction site

was SFC Homes. CP 125. SFC Homes is a licensed general contractor by

trade. CP 130, 132, 138, 436. SFC Homes has a website where it

advertises that its company is in the " housing business" ( CP 144) as a

builder of homes for " construction" of "detached houses." CP 144. There

was no other entity identified in any public record as being either the

owner or the general contractor for this construction site. Garcia Titla

provided evidence that the Assessor-Treasurer' s office listed SFC Homes

as a grantor for the construction site at issue, and listed a parcel number

for the construction site at issue, parcel number 4002540250. CP 125. The

parcel number led to records confirming that this was a " new

construction" site ( CP 126) belonging to SFC Homes. CP 125. A

corporations search of SFC Homes lead to two corporations, SFC Homes

Services, LLC and SFC Homes LLC, both under UBI number 602231397. 

CP 128. A general contractor' s search under UBI 602231397 lead to

Washington' s General and Specialty Contractor website which lists SFC

Homes as a Construction Contractor. CP 130. The specialty listed for SFC

Homes was " General." CP 130. Garcia Titla provided evidence that
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defendant' s declarant, Mr. Atsushi Iwasaki, was one of the managers of

this construction company. CP 130. 

Beyond that, Garcia Titla provided evidence that Washington

Labor and Industries website lists SFC Homes LLC under UBI 602231397

as a Construction Contractor with a specialty license as a general

contractor. CP 132. Defendant' s Declarant, Mr. Atsushi Iwasaki, was

listed as one of its principals, both under expired and renewed general

contractor' s license # SFCHOHL900RO. CP 132- 133. Based upon SFC

Homes' UBI number, the Department of Revenue listed SFC Homes

LLC as a company engaging in " New Single -Family Housing, 

Construction." CP 138. Garcia Titla provided evidence that SFC Homes

was owned by Mr. Iwasaki' s company, Sumitomo Forestry Group. CP

144. The website for Sumitomo Forestry Group holds itself out as being

in the Housing Business." CP 144. Under " Our Business" it listed SFC

Homes, LLC, and states that SFC Homes LLC is engaged in the

Construction and subdivision sales of detached houses." CP 144. This

evidence was provided to prove that SFC Homes, as general

contractor/owner/developer, owed a duty of safety upon its jobsite to

Garcia Titla. 

Garcia Titla also provided evidence of breach of duty by SFC

Homes in his response to Defendant' s Summary Judgement motion. He
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plead that SFC Homes had a duty to provide a safe place to work under

RCW 49. 17. 060 ( CP 111- 114) and Stute v. PBMC. CP 111- 116. He plead

violations of the Washington Administrative Code ( CP 118), specifically

WAC 296- 155. CP 118 and CP 120. 

To this evidence, SFC Homes replied that although it was in fact a

general contractor by trade and did have a general contractor' s license, it

was not at that site at that time, the general contractor of that project. CP

146. Garcia Titla had no further opportunity to reply. The trial court found

that Garcia Titla had not proven that SFC Homes was the general

contractor at the site at the time of Garcia Titla' s injury, nor that he was

the owner/developer who held the Stute duty of care. The trial court

granted SFC Homes' summary judgement motion. CP 483- 484. The

Court of Appeals Division II Affirmed, determining that county records

are not enough to prove a general contractor was the general contractor in

charge of safety at its construction project. This ruling conflicts with Stute, 

and allows the admitted owner and general contractor of a construction

site to avoid its Stute- imposed non -delegable duty for safety. 

V. ARGUMENT

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals Division II on the issue of

general contractor/owner/developer liability is in conflict with
the Supreme Court decision in Stute v. PBMC and with the

Court of Appeals Decisions of Division I. 
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Under RCW 49. 17. 060( 2), general contractors on a multi-employer

jobsite owe a non-delegable duty to all employees on the jobsite to ensure

WAC/DOSH safety regulations are complied with. Stute v. P.B.MC., Inc., 

114 Wn.2d 454, 464, 788 P. 2d 545 ( 1990). This duty is imposed on

general contractors because they have innate supervisory authority over

the jobsite due to their position as the general contractor. Id. This duty has

been extended to owner-developers that were analogous to general

contractors in Division I cases. Weinert v. Bronco Nat'l Co., 58 Wn. App. 

692, 696, 795 P. 2d 1167 ( 1990); Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 160 Wn. App. 

234, 245, 247- 48, 247 P. 3d 482 ( 2011). In Kamla v. Space Needle

Corporation, 147 Wn.2d 114, 121, 52 P. 3d 472 ( 2002), this Court held

that a jobsite owner owes a non-delegable duty to all employees on the

jobsite when it retains the right to direct the manner in which the work is

performed. Division I of the Court of Appeals stated the rule as follows: 

liability depends on " whether the business entity retains control or

supervisory authority over the performance of a subcontractor' s work as to

be analogous to a general contractor." Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 160 Wn. 

App. at 247. The right to direct the work can exist even where the owner

does not actually interfere with the independent contractor's work. Phillips

v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp., 74 Wn. App. 741, 750, 875 P. 2d

1228 ( 1994). " Whether the right to control has been retained depends on
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the parties' contract, the parties' conduct, and other relevant factors." Id. at

750. In Garcia-Titla' s case, there was no contract, so the parties' conduct

has to come into play. Here, SFC Homes left its subcontractors alone to

supervise themselves. This violates Stute v. PBMC. 

Here, the relevant factors include the fact that SFC Homes is a

general contractor by trade, has a general contractor' s license, holds itself

out as a general contractor, did purchase this land to develop it into single

family homes, did build such homes, did sell them, and was listed as the

owner of the parcels in county records. SFC Homes contracted with

subcontractors via oral contracts and left them to supervise themselves on

this multi -housing new construction project. These factors raise a genuine

issue of material fact as to whether SFC Homes carries the Stute duty of

safety, to be determined by the trier of fact. Here, Garcia Titla sued SFC

Homes under a Stute theory of negligence and breach of the non -delegable

duty to maintain a safe work place. A breach of the Stute duty is a breach

of omission: If the general contractor did not supervise its site, it breached

its duty. ( WAC 296- 155- 100). If the general contractor left its framers to

frame alone, without supervising the safety aspect of their job, it breached

its duty. ( WAC 296- 155- 100; 110). A general contractor must require

safety meetings and the general contractor must keep the documentation of

those meetings. ( WAC 296- 155- 110). If he states in his sworn
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Declaration that he maintained no control over his jobsite - as SFC Homes

has done here - he breached his duty. ( WAC 296- 155- 100). If he claims

that he hired independent contractors, and left them to fend for

themselves, he breached his duty. ( WAC 295- 155). Garcia Titla plead a

violation of WAC 296- 155, and of case law, namely Stute v. PBMC, in its

Response to Defendant' s Motion for Summary Judgement. CP 116, 118, 

120). Iwasaki' s Declaration proved the breach of duty, or at the very least

created a genuine issue of material fact as to whether a duty existed and

was breached, because he swore in his Declaration that the framers were

treated as independent contractors and left to supervise themselves. He

breached the duty of care required of general contractors and

owner/developers who leave no general contractor in charge of safety. 

SFC Homes is a general contractor. Whether it was working at

this site as the general contractor, or whether it was an owner/developer

is not material. If it did not leave a general contractor at the site daily, to

supervise safety, then as a default it becomes the owner in control of the

site, whether it chose to exercise that control or not. ( See Stute, supra). 

That is why SFC Homes' argument should have failed when it argued

that Garcia Titla must prove that SFC Homes was more than the

owner/developer, and was more than a general contractor, with a general

contractor' s license. Garcia Titla did not have to prove that SFC Homes
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was choosing to act as the general contractor at that site at that time. Or, 

that SFC Homes did not retain control by choice, and as such, did not

have the duty of control by law. There is no choice in the matter for SFC

Homes, because it chose to purchase land, hire subcontractors, and build

homes upon it. That thrusts the non -delegable Stute duties upon SFC

Homes. 

Garcia Titla had to prove that ( 1) he was working at the job site

CP 80); ( 2) no one from SFC Homes ever came around to supervise the

safety aspect of the job ( CP 79, 83, 84); and ( 3) he suffered an injury

after a joist broke under his feet. CP 62. He testified to these facts in his

Deposition, submitted in SFC Homes' summary judgement moving

papers. He stated that he never spoke to anyone from SFC Homes at any

time ( CP 83, 84) proving that SFC Homes did not have a safety

orientation with him and did not come around daily to inspect the

jobsite. He also testified that he attended no safety meetings by anyone

while he worked at that jobsite. CP 79. 

With regard to the issue of breach: Breach is an element of

negligence is not ripe for summary judgement. Nevertheless, Garcia Titla

identified the case law (Stute) that created SFC Home' s duty of safety, and

the statutory law ( WAC 296- 155) that identified SFC Homes' breach of

that duty. The threshold evidence to defeat summary judgement was met. 
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The Court of Appeals Division II stated Plaintiffs " identified

specific regulations that they alleged were violated, but did not provide

any support for their allegations." ( Court ofAppeals Division II decision

dated April 26, 2016, page 10, attached at Appendix A). The Court

further stated " Garcia Titla responded to Interrogatories stating that it

would supplement its answers and provide safety minute meetings, daily

walk around inspections, and the general contractor' s safety manual, and

then did not produce this evidence." ( Court of Appeals Division II

decision, April 26, 2016, page 3, attached at Appendix A). However, 

Garcia Titla testified that these documents did not exist, and so he could

not have provided them in his responses. He personally testified to the

lack of safety oversight in his Deposition, in evidence at the time of

Defendant' s Summary Judgement motion. His testimony regarding lack

of safety oversight provided the evidence of breach of the

general/ owner' s non -delegable duty. Causation is left to the trier of fact - 

but duty exists. SFC Homes specifically violated RCW 49. 17. 060; WAC

296- 155 and Stute v. PBMC, 114 Wn.2d 454 ( 1990), and Garcia-Titla so

plead in his Response to Defendant' s Summary Judgement Motion. CP

111- 121. 

Even a prior Division II case, Doss v. Rayonier Inc. 803 P. 2d 4, 

60 Wash. App. 125 ( 1991) stated that whether a defendant is an

11



owner/developer or a general contractor matters not. In that case

Division II, citing the Division I case of Weinert v. Bronco National

Co., Wn.App 692, 795 P. 2d 1167 ( 1990) stated: 

We do not overlook the fact that defendant is an owner/developer

rather than a general contractor hired by an owner. We see no
significance to this factor insofar as applying Stute to the facts of
this case. The owner/developer' s position is so comparable to

that of general contractor in Stute that the reasons for the holding
in Stute apply here. The purpose of the statutes and regulations

relied upon in Stute is to protect workers. The basis for imposing
the duty to enforce those laws on a general contractor exists with
respect to an owner/developer who, like the general contractor, 

has the same innate overall supervisory authority and is in the
best position to enforce compliance with safety regulations. 
Doss, supra). 

In Weinert v. Bronco National Co., Wn.App 692, 795 P. 2d 1167

1990), the Court ruled that an owner/developer was liable for injuries

sustained by an employee of the construction company hired by its

siding subcontractor. The employee fell from scaffolding erected by its

own employer. No evidence showed that the owner/developer had

participated in the erection of the scaffolding, yet the owner/developer

was still liable. The Division 1 Court of Appeals in Weinert stated: 

The Deposition testimony before the Court asserts that Weinert
was working on defective planks used in the scaffolding and that
the scaffolding was unstable. It also provides a basis for a trier of
fact to find that defective scaffolding was a proximate cause of
Weinert' s fall and resulting injuries.... In reaching its conclusion, 
the Stute Court rejected the contention that before such a duty
could be imposed, there must be proof the general contractor

controlled the work of the subcontractor.... We do not overlook
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the fact that Bronco is an owner/developer rather than a general

contractor hired by an owner. We see no significance to this

factor insofar as applying Stute to the facts of this case. ( See

Weinert, supra). 

The Division 1 Court ruling in this case conflicts with Weinert. 

Garcia Titla' s Deposition testimony has asserted that he was working on

a defective plank. That plank was unstable, proven by the fact that the

plank broke under his feet. This testimony provides the basis for a trier

of fact to find that a defective piece of wood was a proximate cause of

Garcia Titla' s fall and resulting injuries and the lack of appropriate

safety equipment caused him to fall to the ground. Like in Weinert

following Stute, in reaching its conclusion, this Court should reject the

Court of Appeals Division II contention that before such a duty can be

imposed, there must be proof that the general contractor controlled the

work of the subcontractor and chose to be the general contractor " at that

time" at his jobsite. All the cases since Stute, place the duty to provide a

safe place to work on entities like SFC Homes. As such, SFC Homes

was the correct entity to sue in this case and should not have been

summarily dismissed. 

SFC Homes argued that Stute was not the case on point, and

instead Kamla v. Space Needle 147 Wn.2d 114 ( 2002) governed this

case. Kamla is not analogous to this case. Kamla involved an owner ( the
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Space Needle) who was not a general contractor, and an independent

contractor that was not a subcontractor. 

Independent contractors differ from subcontractors. The title

itself explains the difference: Independent contractors are independent, 

whereas subcontractors work under a higher contractor — the general or

prime contractor. Subcontractors work on construction sites, which are

hazardous employment sites, where safety is of utmost importance

because injuries are very likely. Like a father to his children, the general

or prime contractor is responsible for the safety of his subcontractors, per

the mandates of Stute. Contrary to Defendant' s pleadings, Kamla v. 

Space Needle, 147 Wn.2d 114 ( 2002) does not apply to this case. In

Kamla, the Space Needle was not a general contractor, and it did not hire

subcontractors to build a residential home. The Space Needle hired a

fireworks company to put on a fireworks show. The Court found that

nonetheless, if the Space Needle had been in the business of fireworks, it

could have been considered an owner who retained control of the

fireworks display at issue in that case. Since the Space Needle was not

an owner who was in the business of fireworks, it did not meet the

requirements of being an owner in control. The Space Needle did not

need to place another entity between itself and the fireworks independent

contractor, the independent contractor was not a subcontractor, and the
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Space Needle was not building a residential or commercial home. The

Space Needle was simply an owner, who hired an independent

contractor. 

In this case the trial court found that, like the Space Needle in

Kamla, SFC Homes declared itself to be an owner who chose not to retain

control. Therefore, it did not inherit the Stute duties. This is not a legally

permissible interpretation of Washington law, because Stute and its

progeny mandate that the general contractor has a per se duty of safety for

all workers at its job site. ( Stute v. PBMC, 114 Wn.2d 454, 788 P. 2d 545

1990). If the owner fails to hire a general contractor, then he inherits the

per se duty. (Id). 

Genuine issues of material fact remain to be decided as to whether

SFC Homes is the general contractor and/ or owner/developer ( or both) for

this job site. The correct party to sue in a construction site negligence

action, is the general contractor, the owner/developer, or both. Stute v.

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