RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jun 16, 2016, 2:33 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT NO. 93141-1

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 47462-0-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANGEL GARCIA-TITLA, individually, and LETICIA SARMIENTO FLORES, individually and the marital community composed thereof

Appellants,

v.

SFC HOMES, LLC, a Washington Corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT SFC HOMES, LLC'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PAMELA M. ANDREWS, WSBA #14248 KRISTEN DORRITY, WSBA #23674 ANDREWS • SKINNER, P.S. 645 Elliott Avenue West, Suite 350 Seattle, WA 98119 206-223-9248/ Fax: 206-623-9050

Attorneys for Respondent

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

Garcia Titla did not create a genuine issue of material fact to establish that SFC Homes was the general contractor on this project. The Assessor-Treasurer's report merely states that SFC Homes was the property owner. CP at 125. Licensing documents stated that SFC Homes had a construction contractor's license but made no representations regarding the project site in question. CP at 130, 132-33. Other documents indicated SFC Homes was managed by Mr. Iwasaki and was in the business of new singlefamily housing construction. CP at 135-36, 138, 144. They say nothing about the jobsite in question. Garcia Titla failed to marshal evidence that SFC Homes was acting as the general contractor for the project in question.

2. Having a Contractor's License Did Not Make SFC Homes the General Contractor on This Project.

Garcia Titla asks the Court to find that every jobsite owner who has a contractor's license necessarily is deemed the general contractor for any work performed on property they own. However, that would be contrary to the evidence. As stated in a declaration of an SFC Homes representative, Atsushi Iwasaki, FRDS was hired because SFC Homes had no knowledge of framing and relied on FRDS's expertise. CP at 106.¹² SFC Homes did not participate in or control any of the work performed by FRDS. CP at 106. Garcia Titla could have deposed SFC Homes' representative, but he did not. He could have submitted a declaration from his own expert in response to the summary judgment motion, but he did not.¹³ There is no conflict for this Court to resolve.¹⁴ As the Court of Appeals stated, Garcia Titla's claim was dismissed based on lack of evidence:

¹² Mr. Iwasaki was the manager of SFC Homes and president of its holding company. CP at 105.

¹³ Although Garcia Titla conducted no discovery, he asserts without citation to the record or any authority that there were "no contracts" and that that is "commonplace in residential construction." (Petition, at 3). None of his assertions or allegations constitute evidence.

¹⁴ Garcia Titla tries to create a false "conflict" between the Court of Appeals decision and established precedent, stating that this Court "should provide guidance as to the proper legal standard or test for determining when an entity is acting as a general contractor at a construction project and therefore has the duty of safety on the project." (Petition, at 1).

Garcia Titla and Sarmiento Flores failed to present evidence that SFC Homes was the general contractor of the site where the injury occurred. SFC Homes did have a contractor's license, but Garcia Titla and Sarmiento Flores did not present evidence that SFC Homes acted as the general contractor at this specific site. Therefore, the plaintiffs failed to present any evidence to create a genuine dispute of material fact that SFC Homes was the general contractor.

Court of Appeals Opinion, at 8.

C. SFC Homes Was Not an Owner in Control of the Worksite.

Garcia Titla was the employee of independent contractor, FRDS. At common law, an entity that retains an independent contractor to perform work on a jobsite is generally immune from liability for injuries sustained by the employees of the independent contractor. *Kamla*, 147 Wn.2d at 121. An exception to this rule arises when the entity retains the right to direct the

manner in which the independent contractor performs its work. Id.:

The employer must have retained at least some degree of control over the manner in which the work is done. It is not enough that he has merely a general right to order the work stopped or resumed, to inspect its progress or to receive reports, to make suggestions or recommendations which need not necessarily be followed, or to prescribe alterations and deviations. Such a general right is usually reserved to employers, but it does not mean that the contractor is controlled as to his methods of work, or as to operative detail. There must be such a retention of a right of supervision that the contractor is not entirely free to do the work in his own way. *Kamla*, 147 Wn.2d at 121 (quoting RESTATEMENT SECOND OF TORTS § 414 cmt. c (1965)). The test for control is well established.¹⁵ Even where a landowner has the right to accept or reject work or safety plans or cancel work, something more is required before a duty will be imposed to protect an independent contractor's employees. See, e.g., *Cano-Garcia*, supra.¹⁶

Here, the undisputed and unchallenged testimony of Mr. Iwasaki was that SFC Homes had neither actual control over FRDS's work at the jobsite nor retained control over that work. CP at 106. Garcia Titla presented no evidence in response to the summary judgment motion to support his bald allegation that SFC Homes retained control. He instead argues that SFC Homes did not have someone present at the site or conduct safety meetings, according to Garcia Titla's testimony. But this argument

¹⁵ The question whether control is retained by a jobsite owner is subject to the test set forth in *Kamla*. In evaluating whether an owner had the right to control the work on the jobsite, courts must "look beyond evidence of inspections, demands of contract compliance, suggestions or recommendations that did not necessarily need to be followed, prescriptions of alterations and deviations, receipt of reports, and authority to stop work or resume work." *Cano-Garcia v. King County*, 168 Wn. App. 223, 234-35, 277 P.3d 34 (2012).

¹⁶ Even the right to inspect an independent contractor's work, to demand contract compliance, or to order work stopped does not constitute "retained control" over the subcontractor's operations. See *Hennig v. Crosby Group, Inc.*, 116 Wn.2d 131, 134, 802 P.2d 790 (1991). The *Hennig* court reasoned, "It is one thing to retain a right to oversee compliance with contract provisions and a different matter to so involve oneself in the performance of the work as to undertake responsibility for the safety of the independent contractor's employees." *Id.*; see also *Arnold v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 157 Wn. App. 649, 663, 240 P.3d 162 (2010) ("The employer does not retain control by controlling the timing or order of work, by retaining the right to order the work stopped, or by inspecting the contractor's work to ensure adequate progress."); *Bozung v. Condo. Builders, Inc.*, 42 Wn. App. 442, 447, 711 P.2d 1090 (1985) ("[G]eneral contractual rights [such] as the right to order the work stopped or to control the order of the work or the right to inspect the progress of the work do not mean that the general contractor controls the method of the subcontractor's work.").

puts the cart before the horse: SFC Homes had no duty to be on site or conduct safety meetings where it was not the general contractor and did not retain control of the work.

Garcia Titla brought forth *no* facts that SFC Homes retained a right to supervise FRDS's work such that FRDS was "'not entirely free to do the work in his own way." *Kamla*, 147 Wn.2d at 121 (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 414 cmt. c). The Court of Appeals held:

SFC Homes did not retain control over the work so that a duty of care would arise. Per Iwasaki's declaration, FRDS provided control over the framing because SFC Homes had no experience in this area. SFC Homes relied on FRDS's expertise. Garcia Titla did not raise any material issue of fact as to this matter. In addition, Garcia Titla never interacted with anyone from SFC Homes.

Court of Appeals Opinion, at 9-10. Again, there is no "conflict" for this Court to review. Garcia Titla failed to present evidence to support his claims.

1. There is No Requirement to Have an Owner in Control

Garcia Titla seems to argue that a jobsite owner who hires a subcontractor automatically becomes an "owner in control" upon whom the duty of worksite safety falls. No regulation or case law so states. Further, Garcia Titla's argument seeks imposition of *per se* liability on jobsite owner/developers, a result previously rejected by this Court: Our first question is whether jobsite owners are per se liable under the statutory requirements of RCW 49.17.060. They are not. Nothing in chapter 49.17 RCW specifically imposes a duty upon jobsite owners to comply with WISHA. The second question is whether jobsite owners play a role sufficiently analogous to general contractors to justify imposing upon them the same nondelegable duty to ensure WISHA compliance when there is no general contractor. We hold they do not.

Kamla, 147 Wn.2d at 123-24.

Nonetheless, Garcia Titla repeatedly makes the erroneous argument that as an owner, SFC Homes was per se liable for compliance with WISHA regulations if it did not hire a general contractor. Garcia Titla cites *Stute*, *Moen v. Island Steel Erectors*, 128 Wn.2d 745, 912 P.2d 472 (1996), and *Kelley v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 323, 582 P.2d 500 (1978), but *Stute*, *Moen*, and *Kelley* all involved the duties of general contractors, not jobsite owners. Where there is no general contractor and no owner in control, a worker's recovery may be limited to industrial insurance benefits. There is not always a third party to sue.

2. Garcia Titla Mischaracterizes Stute

Garcia Titla argues that *Stute* and its progeny apply a per se rule for worksite safety not only to general contractors, but also to "owner/developers." Again, such an interpretation of *Stute* would impose a per se duty on jobsite owners to ensure WISHA compliance, a position not supported by *Stute* or its progeny. See, e.g., *Afoa v. Port of Seattle*, 176

14

Wn.2d 460, 472, 296 P.3d 800 (2013) (no per se duty imposed on jobsite owners under *Stute*).

Garcia Titla cites two cases, Doss v. ITT Rayonier Inc., 60 Wn. App. 125, 803 P.2d 4 (1991) and Weinert v. Bronco Nat'l Co., 58 Wn. App. 692, 795 P.2d 1167 (1990), for this proposition. Those cases are distinguishable from the instant case. In Doss, the jobsite owner, ITT Rayonier, owned the mill and the independent contractor's employee was killed while cleaning the inside of the mill owner's boiler. On those facts, the court concluded that the mill owner owed the decedent a common law duty to exercise ordinary care for his safety because of its influence over safety aspects of the boiler cleaning. 60 Wn.App., at 130. In those circumstances there was "no significant difference between an owner-independent contractor relationship and a general contractor-subcontractor relationship." 60 Wn. App. at 127, n. 2. In Weinert, Division One held that an owner/developer could be liable for WISHA violations where the facts showed the owner/developer in that case had "the same innate overall supervisory authority and is in the best position to enforce compliance with safety regulations." 58 Wn. App. at 696. Those facts are not present in this case, where Garcia Titla failed to show SFC Homes had or retained any supervisory authority over the framing work.

15

Here, Garcia Titla has failed to present evidence supporting his theory of retained control, and the only evidence on this point is the declaration of SFC Homes' representative. CP at 106. Garcia Titla has not created an issue of fact to establish retained control.

3. Untimely Evidence

Garcia Titla purports to cite to materials that he submitted after the trial court's summary judgment order was entered, in support of his motion for reconsideration. The untimely submitted materials were public records from 2011 and were available prior to the summary judgment motion filed in January 2015.¹⁷ The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration and the Court of Appeals affirmed, holding the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion to reconsider. Court of Appeals Opinion, at 12 (holding Garcia Titla "did not exercise due diligence in obtaining this evidence"). Garcia Titla has not petitioned this Court to review the Court of Appeals ruling that the untimely filed materials were not newly discovered evidence, that Garcia Titla had not exercised due diligence in obtaining the evidence, and that the trial court properly refused to consider

¹⁷ Those citations include building and plumbing permits. CP at 198-203, 427, and 432. However, the purpose of reconsideration is not to permit the losing party to have a second chance at presenting evidence to support their claim, and Garcia Titla did not provide a sound basis under Civil Rule 59 for the Court to consider the additional materials.

those materials and properly denied the motion for reconsideration. Therefore, Garcia Titla may not now rely such materials.

Even if considered, as the Court of Appeals analysis made clear, it still would not have created a genuine dispute as to a material fact. "The newly found evidence did not counter the evidence provided by SFC Homes that it did not control the jobsite in a way that gave rise to a duty." Court of Appeals Opinion, at 12.¹⁸

D. No Evidence of WISHA Violations

Finally, Garcia Titla failed to present evidence in response to the summary judgment motion of safety or health WISHA violations. Thus, remedies under *Stute* are unavailable. Garcia Titla had the burden of showing that SFC Homes "did not follow *particular* WISHA regulations." *Stute*, 114 Wn.2d at 457 (emphasis added). Garcia Titla provided no evidence of any WISHA or DOSH violations to the court. CP at 118. By contrast, at summary judgment, SFC Homes submitted testimony from its safety expert, Kurt Stranne, who stated that WISHA does not require fall protection for framers at heights of under ten feet.¹⁹ CP at 489-90; see also CP at 80, 83.

¹⁸ The application for permits in the absence of any contract between SFC Homes and FRDS does not create an issue of material fact as to SFC Homes' status as jobsite owner only and its lack of control over the jobsite, in light of the undisputed evidence presented that SFC Homes did not serve as the general contractor for the project and SFC Homes did not retain the right to control the work being performed on the subject property.

¹⁹ WAC 296-155-24510 (the provision applicable in 2011) provides: "When employees are exposed to a hazard of falling from a location 10 feet or more in height, the employer shall

Garcia Titla presented no evidence he was at a height greater than ten feet. As such, SFC Homes established the absence of an issue of fact. Garcia Titla failed to respond with facts showing the existence of an issue of fact on whether WISHA violations occurred. The trial court recognized this failure at oral argument, stating:

> Well, but even a general contractor is not a strict liability standard. You still have to show a [WISHA] violation. So where do you have that? I mean, all that does—if they are a general, it just means that they can't shift the responsibility for general safety compliance on-site, but you've got to show that there was a violation and that that was a cause of his injury, and I don't have that either.

CP at 293. Affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals held that Garcia Titla "identified specific regulations that they alleged were violated, but did not provide any support for their allegations." Court of Appeals Opinion, at $10.^{20}$ He submitted no expert testimony in response to the summary judgment motion to support a claim of a WISHA violation. Expert opinions that help establish the elements of negligence are admissible. *Davis v. Baugh Indus. Contractors, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 413, 420-21, 150 P.3d 545 (2007). Here, Garcia Titla only offered an expert opinion for the first time with his motion to reconsider, after the trial court entered the order granting summary judgment; he offered no expert opinion in response to the

ensure that fall restraint, fall arrest systems or positioning device systems are provided, installed, and implemented." CP 489.

²⁰ Garcia Titla admitted he had not alleged any WISHA violations. CP at 293-94.

summary judgment motion. See CP at 122-148. Again, as the Court of Appeals affirmed, the trial court properly refused to consider the late submitted expert testimony, as it was not "newly discovered evidence" which Garcia Titla could not with reasonable diligence have discovered and produced in response to the summary judgment motion. CR 59(a)(4). Court of Appeals Opinion, at 12. The dismissal also can be affirmed on this basis.

VI. CONCLUSION

The decisions of the trial court and Court of Appeals were correct. There is no conflict for this Court to resolve and the Petition should be denied. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 16th day of June, 2016.

ANDREWS • SKINNER, P.S.

By

PAMELA M. ANDREWS, WSBA #14248 KRISTEN DORRITY, WSBA #23674 645 Elliott Avenue West, Suite 350 Seattle, WA 98119 206-223-9248/ Fax: 206-623-9050 Attorneys for Respondent